RECEIVED

Jul 24 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000050

South Carolina Lottery Commission,.....Respondent,

v.

George S. Glassmeyer,.....Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Andrew S. Radeker
S.C. Bar No. 73743
Taylor M. Smith IV
S.C. Bar No. 101584
Harrison, Radeker & Smith, P.A.
Post Office Box 50143
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 779-2211
drew@harrisonfirm.com
taylor@harrisonfirm.com
Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court issued a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' published opinion in South Carolina Lottery Commission v. Glassmeyer, 428 S.C. 423, 835 S.E.2d 524 (Ct. App. 2019).

This is a case in which the Respondent, the South Carolina Lottery Commission (hereinafter "the Lottery Commission"), a public body, sued the Petitioner (hereinafter "Glassmeyer"), a citizen of South Carolina, for making requests pursuant to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-10, *et seq.* (hereinafter "FOIA"). (Appx. pp. 196-204.) The Lottery Commission sought a declaration that certain information Glassmeyer had sought through two FOIA requests is exempt from mandatory disclosure under FOIA and requested the issuance of a permanent injunction preventing Glassmeyer from seeking to obtain that information, along with an award of attorney's fees. (Appx. pp. 196-204.) The information concerned lottery winners who claimed prizes of or over a million dollars over a period of time, including their names, addresses, telephone numbers, and forms of identification that they presented to the Lottery Commission to claim their lottery prizes. (Appx. pp. 197, 210.)

Glassmeyer answered, denying that the Lottery Commission was entitled to any relief and asserting various defenses. (Appx. pp. 324-38.) Glassmeyer also pled counterclaims against the Lottery Commission, seeking a declaration that the Lottery Commission had violated FOIA, seeking an order directing the Lottery Commission to comply with FOIA with regard to his requests, and asserting a claim against the Lottery Commission for abuse of process. (Appx. pp. 332-34.) Glassmeyer's answer and counterclaim attached "a copy of a South Carolina Education Lottery Winner Claim Form" that was authored by the Lottery Commission and is used for lottery winners to submit claims to the Lottery Commission. (Appx. pp. 331, 336-37.) The form states

that the information the lottery winner provides on the form may be subject to disclosure under FOIA. (Appx. pp. 332-336.) The information the form requires to be disclosed on it includes the information sought by Glassmeyer in his FOIA requests. (Appx. p. 336.) The form also states that a claimant who submits it releases the Lottery Commission from liability for disclosure of information about the claimant. (Appx. p. 336.)

The case was set for a non-jury trial on December 5, 2014, before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. Before trial began, the Lottery Commission made an oral motion for judgment on the pleadings. (Appx. p. 394 ln. 5-7.) The Lottery Commission clarified that it sought relief under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-10, *et seq.*, rather than under FOIA. (Appx. p. 203, p. 389 ln. 2-4.) Glassmeyer made oral motions to dismiss the Lottery Commission's claims and to strike the Lottery Commission's prayer for attorney's fees. (Appx. p. 394 ln. 20-21, p. 402 ln. 16-18.) The Lottery Commission limited its motion for judgment on the pleadings to its own claims, not Glassmeyer's counterclaims. (Appx. p. 405 ln. 8 through p. 406 ln. 1.)

Those motions were all that were heard that day. (Appx. p. 411 ln. 12-18.) No trial was held that day or any day in this case. No party ever presented any evidence.

On November 17, 2015, Judge Manning filed an order granting the Lottery Commission the declaratory and injunctive relief it sought. (Appx. pp. 187-88.) The circuit court "ORDERED that [Glassmeyer] is PERMANENTLY restrained and enjoined from seeking to obtain the (1) full names; (2) addresses; (3) telephone numbers; and (4) forms of identification of all lottery winners and claimants." (Appx. p. 188.) The order states that it "concludes the above-captioned lawsuit[.]" (Appx. p. 188.)

The order did not address Glassmeyer's motions, and it did not address Glassmeyer's counterclaims. (Appx. pp. 177-88.) The order found as facts things that Glassmeyer neither stated in his answer and counterclaim nor admitted in response to the Lottery Commission's complaint. (Appx. pp. 177-88, 196-337.)

Glassmeyer moved to reconsider. (Appx. pp. 347-383.) The court denied that motion by order filed May 17, 2016. (Appx. p. 189, 191.)

Glassmeyer appealed. During the pendency of the appeal, the General Assembly enacted a change to FOIA, amending S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-110, and Glassmeyer brought that to the court's attention. (Appx. pp. 63-65.)

The Court of Appeals held that the Lottery Commission did have standing to sue Glassmeyer, affirmed the grant of judgment on the pleadings on the Lottery Commission's claims, and reversed and remanded only as to Glassmeyer's abuse of process counterclaim. (Appx. p. 13.) The Court of Appeals stated the standard of review as that for determining whether a declaratory judgment action is legal or equitable. (Appx. p. 4.) The Court of Appeals held that the Lottery Commission had standing to bring its claims. (Appx. p. 13). It held that whether the FOIA exemption in S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-40(a)(2) applies to the information withheld by the Lottery Commission is a question of law that "does not require looking at any facts other than Glassmeyer's request." (Appx. p. 12.) The Court of Appeals did not address Glassmeyer's claim seeking relief under FOIA. (Appx. pp. 1-13.) The Court of Appeals declined to address the denial of Glassmeyer's motion to dismiss, stating that issue was not appealable. (Appx. p. 13.)

The Court of Appeals denied Glassmeyer's petition for rehearing. (Appx. pp. 49-50.)

Glassmeyer petitioned this court for a writ of certiorari, which this court granted on July 8, 2020, as to the five questions presented by Glassmeyer's petition:

1) Did the Court of Appeals err in granting the Lottery Commission's motion for judgment on the pleadings as to its claim for a declaratory judgment?

2) Did the Court of Appeals err in granting the Lottery Commission's motion for judgment on the pleadings as to its claim for an injunction?

3) Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to reverse the denial of Glassmeyer's motion to dismiss the Lottery Commission's claim for a declaratory judgment?

4) Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to reverse the denial of Glassmeyer's motion to dismiss the Lottery Commission's claim for an injunction?

5) Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to reverse and remand as to Glassmeyer's claim seeking relief under FOIA?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of whether a motion for judgment on the pleadings should be granted is the same as for a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, and the appellate court is required to apply the same standard to the review of an order granting such a motion. See Russell v. City of Columbia, 305 S.C. 86, 406 S.E.2d 338 (1991); Falk v. Sadler, 341 S.C. 281, 533 S.E.2d 350 (Ct. App. 2000); Fireman's Ins. Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 302 S.C. 234, 394 S.E.2d 855 (Ct. App. 1990). In deciding a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the court may not consider matters outside the content of the non-moving party's pleadings, and an appellate court is limited to the content of the pleadings in just the same way. See Falk, 341 S.C. at 281; Firemen's Ins. Co., 302 S.C. at 234. A judgment on the pleadings is proper only where there is no issue of fact raised by the non-moving

party's pleadings that would entitle the non-moving party to judgment if those issues were resolved in his favor. Sapp v. Ford Motor Co., 386 S.C. 143, 687 S.E.2d 47, 49 (2009). An appellate court must reverse the grant of a motion for judgment on the pleadings if, when viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, "the facts alleged [in the non-moving party's pleadings] and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the [non-moving party] to any relief on any theory of the case." Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995); accord Sapp, 687 S.E.2d at 49.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' opinion contravenes this Court's precedent concerning the government's obligation to prove the applicability of an exemption from disclosure under FOIA before a court allows it to withhold requested information. The opinion also undermines bedrock principles about how motions directed at pleadings are to be decided, principles designed to ensure that cases proper for trial get to proceed to trial.

The implications of allowing the Court of Appeals' opinion to stand are disturbing for FOIA and the public's use of FOIA. The Court of Appeals' jurisprudence about determining the applicability of FOIA exemptions is, at present, internally inconsistent and variously in line with and not in line with precedent already set by this Court. If this Court does not correct the missteps of the Court of Appeals in this case, the potential for the Court of Appeals and trial courts to misapply the law in this context in future FOIA cases is significant.

The Court of Appeals is wrong about whether the identities of million-dollar lottery claimants are, as categorical matter, exempt from disclosure under a FOIA exemption that applies only if and when a public body proves that what is sought under FOIA is "[i]nformation of a

personal nature where the public disclosure thereof would constitute unreasonable invasion of personal privacy.” S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-40(a)(2).¹ The Lottery Commission did no more than show that disclosure of the information at issue in this case would identify the people to whom the state paid a million dollars or more in claimed lottery winnings. The Lottery Commission never showed that disclosure of the information Glassmeyer sought would result in *any* private matter being revealed. Receiving a million dollars or more of public funds is not a private matter. It is a public matter. “South Carolina FOIA mandates that the public be provided with information regarding the expenditure of public funds.” Weston v. Carolina Research and Development Foundation, 303 S.C. 398, 402, 401 S.E.2d 161, 164 (1990).

I. In granting and affirming a judgment on the pleadings, the circuit court and the Court of Appeals made factual findings that were neither admitted nor pled in Glassmeyer’s pleading, failing to apply the correct standard.

This case was not tried, and only motions directed at the pleadings were heard on the day that had been set for trial. (Appx. p. 133, 387-411.) The Lottery Commission’s motion was for judgment on the pleadings. The circuit court’s order, though, reads much as though the case had been tried and contains numerous factual findings. (Appx. pp. 177-88.) The Court of Appeals’ opinion states the following: “Glassmeyer contends the circuit court considered evidence outside of the pleadings and construed the pleadings in the light most favorable to SCLC. We disagree.” (Appx. p. 9.) Glassmeyer did not contend that the circuit court considered evidence outside the pleadings. The circuit court did not consider any evidence at all. No evidentiary record was ever made.² There was no trial. The circuit court just took the Lottery Commission’s unadmitted

¹ Section 30-4-40(a)(2) was amended in 2017, but not to alter the language at issue here.

² What may look like “exhibits” in the record are exhibits to the Lottery Commission’s complaint. (Appx. pp. 205-323.)

allegations and unproven position on the facts and transformed them into an order ruling for the Lottery Commission.

In deciding a motion for judgment on the pleadings made by Glassmeyer's opponent, the circuit court was not permitted to look outside what Glassmeyer pled. See Sapp, 687 S.E.2d at 49; Russell, 305 S.C. 86; Falk, 341 S.C. 281; Fireman's Ins., 302 S.C. 234. The circuit court's order, however, is replete with factual findings of things that Glassmeyer did not admit in response to the Lottery Commission's complaint and did not allege himself. (Appx. pp. 177-88, 196-204, 324-338.) Glassmeyer's admissions in response to the complaint did not extend much further than admitting that he made the subject FOIA requests and that the Lottery Commission sent him the correspondence it sent him. (Appx. pp. 196-204, 324-338.)

Only the Lottery Commission's allegations that Glassmeyer admitted, along with Glassmeyer's own allegations in his answer and counterclaim, made up the factual universe available to the circuit court to use in deciding the Lottery Commission's motion for judgment on the pleadings. See Sapp, 687 S.E.2d at 49; Russell, 305 S.C. 86; Falk, 341 S.C. 281; Fireman's Ins., 302 S.C. 234.

The circuit court, however, decided to grant judgment on the pleadings by treating the *unadmitted* allegations of the Lottery Commission's complaint as though they had been proven. (Appx. pp. 177-88.) The Court of Appeals did the same thing, looking outside what Glassmeyer pled in reviewing the circuit court's decision. For example, the Court of Appeals found that what was stated in the Lottery Commission's committee meeting minutes was true and that disclosing lottery claimants' identities exposes them to significant risks. (Appx. pp. 7, 8.)

The Court of Appeals' opinion makes plain that it did not apply the correct standard of review. Indeed, the Court of Appeals stated the standard of review as the test for determining whether a declaratory judgment action is legal or equitable, which is not a standard of review at all. (Appx. p. 4.)

Had the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review, that for appellate review of an order granting judgment on the pleadings, it would have seen that the allegations and admissions in Glassmeyer's answer and counterclaim do not prove the Lottery Commission's case against Glassmeyer. In choosing to affirm, the Court of Appeals looked impermissibly to unadmitted allegations of the *moving* party's pleading to find a basis for its decision. There are many substantive problems with the circuit court's order and the Court of Appeals' opinion affirming it, but, on this point of procedural error, even without regard to any other issues, black-letter law required the Court of Appeals to reverse. See Sapp, 687 S.E.2d at 49; Russell, 305 S.C. 86; Falk, 341 S.C. 281; Fireman's Ins., 302 S.C. 234.

II. The Court of Appeals' opinion is inconsistent with the government's burden to prove the applicability of a FOIA exemption and the case-by-case approach required under FOIA.

Precedent authored by this Court holds that the "determination of whether documents or portions thereof are exempt from FOIA must be made on a case-by-case basis." Evening Post Publ'g Co. v. Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist., 392 S.C. 76, 82, 708 S.E.2d 745, 748 (2011). "The burden of proving that an exemption exists lies with the government." Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist., 392 S.C. at 83; accord Evening Post Publ'g Co. v. City of N. Charleston, 363 S.C. 452, 457, 611 S.E.2d 496, 499 (2005) (to advance purpose of FOIA, "government has the burden of proving that an exemption applies"); Fowler v. Beasley, 322 S.C. 463, 468, 472 S.E.2d 630, 633 (1996) (same).

Sometimes, the Court of Appeals has gotten this right. The Court of Appeals reversed the grant of a motion for judgment on the pleadings in a FOIA case in 2019, concluding “that when a citizen in litigation with a governmental agency directs a FOIA request to that agency, the agency must *show* the applicability of a specific FOIA exemption to *each* requested public record.” Pope v. Wilson, 427 S.C. 377, 388, 831 S.E.2d 442, 448 (Ct. App. 2019) (emphasis added). “The seriousness with which our appellate courts have viewed FOIA rights in the past is an additional reason for our appellate courts to continue requiring the government to *show* an exemption.” Id. at 388 n. 9 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals in Pope observed that affirming the circuit court’s judgment on the pleadings “could possibly encourage circuit courts to gloss over what should be a case-specific analysis” and that the circuit court’s “vague” and categorical determination that the records sought were exempt from FOIA “comes close to the ‘blanket prohibition’ that our supreme court has cautioned against.” Id. at 390 (quoting Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist., 392 S.C. at 83).

This Court has previously rejected a categorical approach to the specific FOIA exemption at issue in the instant case. In City of Columbia v. American Civil Liberties Union of South Carolina, Inc., 323 S.C. 384, 475 S.E.2d 747 (1996), the city invoked the unreasonable invasion of personal privacy exemption under S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-40(a)(2), but this Court disagreed with the “contention that the internal investigation reports of law enforcement agencies are per se exempt because they contain personal information as a matter of course. The determination of whether documents or portions thereof are exempt from the FOIA must be made on a case-by-case basis. Thus, it remains to be seen whether the report qualifies for an exception under FOIA.” City of Columbia, 323 S.C. at 387.

The Court of Appeals stated in the instant case that “[t]he question of whether the information Glassmeyer requested was exempt under FOIA is a question of law and does not require looking at any facts other than Glassmeyer’s request.” (Appx. p. 12.) That is wrong. Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist., 392 S.C. at 83; City of Columbia, 323 S.C. at 387; City of N. Charleston, 363 S.C. at 457; Fowler, 322 S.C. at 468; Pope, 427 S.C. at 388, 390. The burden is on the government to prove, with evidence, on a case-by-case basis, that a FOIA exemption applies with regard to each record for which an exemption is claimed. Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist., 392 S.C. at 83; City of Columbia, 323 S.C. at 387; City of N. Charleston, 363 S.C. at 457; Fowler, 322 S.C. at 468; Pope, 427 S.C. at 388, 390. This especially true with regard to the FOIA exemption at issue in this case, since “Section 30-4-40(a)(2) does not specifically list or define the types of records, reports, or other information that should be classified as personal or private information exempt from disclosure.” Burton v. York County Sheriff’s Dept., 358 S.C. 339, 352, 594 S.E.2d 888, 895 (Ct. App. 2004). This Court has already rejected the matter-of-law approach to this FOIA exemption in City of Columbia v. ACLU. 323 S.C. at 387. Accordingly, the government entity claiming this exemption is tasked with proving a factual record that shows both that 1) the information sought is of a personal nature and 2) that disclosure of the information would necessarily constitute an unreasonable invasion of personal privacy. Id.; Burton, 358 S.C. at 352.

The Court of Appeals’ opinion also engages in impermissible burden shifting. The Court of Appeals decided there was no showing made of why the public needs to know the specific information requested by Glassmeyer, looked to whether Glassmeyer showed a reason why *he* wanted the information, and decided that he “has not provided any reason that the public needs to know the information he requested or any reason as to why the information [the Lottery

Commission] provided was not adequate[,]” presumably, not adequate to serve a specific purpose for which Glassmeyer wanted it. (Appx. p. 11.) That is not the way the analysis works. The analysis of a case involving the potential application of FOIA’s unreasonable-invasion-of-personal-privacy exemption involves balancing an individual’s privacy interest against the need or desire *of the public generally* to have access to *the type of information* in question. Burton, 358 S.C. at 352. The interest in the information that is subject of the inquiry is not that of the individual requester, it is the public’s “general interest” in being able to access information of the type at issue. Id. The reason that the particular citizen who made the request wants the information is usually irrelevant, unless the information is sought for commercial solicitation purposes. See id.; S.C. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-40, -50. It is incongruous with this Court’s holding that “[t]he burden of proving that an exemption exists lies with the government” for a FOIA requester to have to make any showing at all regarding an exemption. Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist., 392 S.C. at 83.

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