**RECEIVED**

**Sep 04 2020**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000050

---

South Carolina Lottery Commission .....Respondent,

v.

George S. Glassmeyer.....Petitioner.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Karl S. Bowers, Jr.  
SC Bar No. 16141  
BOWERS LAW OFFICE, LLC  
Post Office Box 50549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29250  
(803) 753-1099  
butch@butchbowers.com

Vordman Carlisle Traywick, III  
SC Bar No. 102123  
ROBINSON GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, LLC

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

Against this backdrop, the court of appeals weighed the competing considerations to determine—as a matter of law—whether the information Glassmeyer requested was exempt from disclosure under FOIA. In doing so, the court of appeals compared the instant case to a similar one it had recently decided. As the court of appeals noted, in Glassmeyer v. City of Columbia, it “reversed the circuit court, holding disclosure of the applicants’ home addresses, telephone numbers, and personal email addresses would constitute an unreasonable invasion of personal privacy.” S.C. Lottery Comm’n, 428 S.C. at 437, 835 S.E.2d at 531 (citing Glassmeyer v. City of Columbia, 414 S.C. at 223, 777 S.E.2d at 840–41). Applying the balancing test, the panel in that case “fail[ed] to see how disclosure of the limited information . . . would serve to establish the veracity of the applicants more than the information [the city] already provided.” Id. (quoting Glassmeyer v. City of Columbia, 414 S.C. at 223, 777 S.E.2d at 841).

So too here. The Lottery Commission takes its obligations under FOIA seriously. With that in mind, the Lottery Commission “provided Glassmeyer with the amount of the lottery winnings, the lottery game, and the claimants’ home towns and states.” Id. When “balancing the individual’s privacy against the public’s need to know,” the court of appeals appropriately found no “reason that the public needs to know the information [Glassmeyer] requested or any reason as to why the information [the Lottery Commission] provided was not adequate.” Id. To the contrary, Glassmeyer only made fleeting reference to its “potential for exposing government corruption.” Id. Unpersuaded, the court of appeals held that, “without more,” the court was “unable to fathom how disclosure of the rest of the information would benefit the public more than what was already provided.” Id.

Disclosure, on the other hand, would work “an unreasonable invasion of privacy” for the lottery winners. Id. After all, “[t]he lottery claimants’ names are not public knowledge and the

release of such information could lead to the discovery of other personal information.” Id. Indeed, as noted above, this case arose shortly after the major data breach at the Department of Revenue that put thousands of South Carolinians’ personal information at risk of misuse. This is certainly not some unfounded concern. And the Lottery Commission has taken significant strides to protect the personal identifying information of lottery participants and winners.

On April 11, 2014, for example, the Lottery Commission’s executive committee unanimously voted to suspend a former policy regarding the release of lottery winners’ information in response to FOIA requests and, in turn, unanimously adopted a new policy authorizing the executive director to determine an appropriate response to pending and future FOIA requests. The executive committee also gave the chairman of the board authority to defend or initiate lawsuits related to FOIA. See (App’x pp. 198–99, 205–08); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 59-150-60 (giving the Lottery Commission “powers to . . . sue and be sued in contract and in tort and to complain and defend in all courts”). Five days later, the Lottery Commission received another FOIA request from Glassmeyer and acted accordingly to protect its winners from an unreasonable invasion of their privacy.

The court of appeals therefore correctly found “the balancing test weighs in favor of preventing the disclosure of the information . . . to safeguard the claimants’ personal privacy.” S.C. Lottery Comm’n, 428 S.C. at 437–38, 835 S.E.2d at 531. Glassmeyer nevertheless maintains the existence of a waiver form mandates reversal. It does not. As the court of appeals found, the lottery winners “did not waive their right to privacy just by executing the form.” Id. at 438, 835 S.E.2d at 531. To illustrate this point, the court of appeals explained as follows:

The form merely indicated that some of the information included in the form may be subject to disclosure under FOIA. However, this warning does not mean the claimants waived any right they had to the privacy of the information on the form, such as their social

security numbers. In fact, SCLC did disclose some of the information included on the form—the claimants' home towns and states. Just as Glassmeyer v. City of Columbia found “[a]n individual’s interest in controlling the dissemination of information regarding personal matters does not dissolve simply because that information may be available to the public in some form,” we find this same interest does not dissolve just because the claimants were warned that some of the information may be subject to disclosure.

Id. (alteration in original) (quoting Glassmeyer v. City of Columbia, 414 S.C. at 222, 777 S.E.2d at 840).

Glassmeyer also contends this Court’s decision in Society of Professional Journalists v. Sexton compels a different result. 283 S.C. 563, 324 S.E.2d 313 (1984). Respectfully, his reliance is misplaced. In that case, the Court began with the unassailable proposition that, “[g]enerally, privacy rights are considered personal rights which do not survive.” Id. at 566, 324 S.E.2d at 315. Applying that to the facts at hand, the Court concluded that information on a “death certificate . . . of a murder victim in a case of great public interest” was not exempt from disclosure under FOIA. Id. Here, though, the lottery winners are very much still alive and trying to protect themselves from any unreasonable invasion of privacy. Many took legal action to protect that important right. Accordingly, Glassmeyer finds no refuge in Society of Professional Journalists.

In short, this case has nothing to do with protecting the public from secret government activity. The Lottery Commission is not hiding behind the curtain here. Rather, the Lottery Commission is trying to comply with its obligations under FOIA while protecting the rights of private citizens—none of whom are government officials—from the disclosure of their personal information that would constitute an unreasonable invasion of personal privacy. Both the circuit court and the court of appeals applied the proper balancing test in reaching the correct conclusion that these matters are exempt from disclosure under FOIA. And neither court improperly burdened shifted to get there as Glassmeyer suggests. Instead, the court of appeals properly moved forward

under the premise that the “government has the burden of proving that an exemption applies.” Evening Post Publ’g Co. v. City of N. Charleston, 363 S.C. 452, 457, 611 S.E.2d 496, 499 (2005). Here, the Lottery Commission carried its burden. The Court should therefore affirm the entry of a declaratory judgment.

Likewise, a permanent injunction was appropriate. Under the Declaratory Judgments Act, the Court can grant “[f]urther relief based on a declaratory judgment or decree . . . whenever necessary or proper.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-120. Here, a permanent injunction was “necessary” and “proper.” Id.; see also Scratch Golf Co. v. Dunes W. Residential Golf Props., Inc., 361 S.C. 117, 121, 603 S.E.2d 905, 908 (2004) (stating for the court to issue an injunction, a plaintiff must establish (1) it “would suffer irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted,” (2) it “will likely succeed on the merits of the litigation,” and (3) no adequate remedy at law exists).<sup>4</sup>

The irreparable harm here was twofold. First, the Lottery Commission was entangled in litigation—and faced the prospect of additional litigation—because of Glassmeyer’s FOIA requests. Having to waste time and resources on constant litigation at the hands of a citizen seeking information to which he was not entitled thwarts the Lottery Commission’s ability to carry out its mission. Second, the Lottery Commission was rightly concerned about protecting the personal identifying information of lottery winners for a number of reasons. Cf. State ex rel. McCleary v. Roberts, 725 N.E.2d 1144, 1149 (Ohio 2000) (noting “a release of the requested information by the Department in this matter places those who are the subject of the records request at risk of irreparable harm, albeit not necessarily by [the Department]”).

---

<sup>4</sup> This Court, of course, has clarified that balancing the equities is not a separate part of the injunction analysis. See Poynter Invs., Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc., 387 S.C. 583, 587, 694 S.E.2d 15, 17 (2010). Although the circuit court and court of appeals both mentioned balancing the equities, it had no effect on the outcome of their rulings. Thus, any error is harmless.

Safety, for example, comes to mind. (App’x p. 198). Several cases and newspaper articles were referenced and incorporated into the complaint, without any timely objection, that provided examples of lottery winners across the country being attacked and even killed after claiming their prizes. Id. Scams, extortion, and data breaches are hardly outside the realm of possibility. Indeed, on the heels of a major data breach at the South Carolina Department of Revenue, id., this Court recognized the need to protect personal identifying information in appellate filings. See Order, In re: Revised Order Concerning Personal Identifying Information and Other Sensitive Information in Appellate Court Filings, App. No. 2013-002681, Am. Order No. 2014-04-15-02 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Apr. 15, 2014). Thus, the presence and prospect of litigation—coupled with the palpable dangers attendant to releasing lottery winners’ personal identifying information—amount to a sufficient showing of irreparable harm. The circuit court so found, the court of appeals affirmed, and this Court should as well.

As demonstrated above, the Lottery Commission succeeded on the merits and received a declaratory judgment confirming its position was correct. Although a declaratory judgment was a legal remedy, the Act allowed for additional relief to give teeth to the judgment. See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-120. In this case, that was a permanent injunction. Based upon its finding that the Lottery Commission satisfied all the necessary elements, the circuit court properly entered an injunction to prevent Glassmeyer from seeking the same information in the future. Given the number of claimants affected, as well as the prospective number of claimants who could be affected down the road, the permanent injunction was not overly broad. It was narrowly tailored to the personal identifying information Glassmeyer sought for lottery winners. Glassmeyer, however, is not without future recourse. If circumstances change, he is well within his rights to

ask the circuit court to modify or vacate the permanent injunction if he meets any of the requirements under Rule 60(b), SCRPC.

Accordingly, the Court should join the court of appeals and affirm the circuit court's entry of declaratory and permanent injunctive relief in favor of the Lottery Commission.

*IV. The court of appeals properly gave short shrift to Glassmeyer's arguments on his motion to dismiss and FOIA counterclaim because they are without merit.*

According to Glassmeyer, the court of appeals also erred in (1) not addressing the merits of his counterclaim under FOIA and (2) the denial of his motion to dismiss. The Court should reject these contentions.

Initially, Glassmeyer faces an insurmountable hurdle to raising these issues—he made no effort at all to analyze them for the Court. Take his motion to dismiss argument. His brief offers no explanation as to how the Lottery Commission failed to state a claim for relief under any theory of the case. See Pet'r Br. at 23–24. He simply argues the court of appeals should have reversed the denial of his motion under the general standard for Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. Respectfully, that is insufficient. Consider next the counterclaim argument. It consists of one conclusory paragraph with zero citations. See Pet'r Br. at 24. These issues are thus abandoned. See Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001) (“South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review.”); Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P'ship, 312 S.C. 102, 106 n.3, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 n.3 (Ct. App. 1993) (stating “an appellant may not use the reply brief to argue issues not argued in his brief in chief”).

He fares no better on the merits. Although the circuit court issued a declaratory judgment finding the matters Glassmeyer demanded from the Lottery Commission were exempt from disclosure, he nevertheless argues the circuit court was required to issue a separate ruling on his

counterclaim that the Lottery Commission violated FOIA. That much does not follow. The court of appeals correctly concluded that—by finding the personal identifying information was exempt from disclosure under FOIA—the circuit court “implicitly resolved” Glassmeyer’s counterclaim for declaratory judgment alleging a FOIA violation. S.C. Lottery Comm’n, 428 S.C. 423 at 439 n.7, 835 S.E.2d at 532 n.7; see also State ex rel. Nixon v. Hoester, 930 S.W.2d 52, 53 (Mo. Ct. App. 1996) (observing when “a judgment implicitly resolves the issues raised by the defendant’s counterclaim, it is a final judgment even though the judgment makes no explicit reference to the counterclaim”).

Further, a review of the order reveals the circuit court did resolve the issue. In the final paragraph, the circuit court stated “[t]his Order concludes the . . . lawsuit and judgment is entered for” the Lottery Commission. (App’x p. 188). Once again, Glassmeyer seeks to elevate form over substance. Respectfully, remanding for an exercise in throat-clearing would not be a wise use of judicial resources. Instead, the Court should find the circuit court properly dismissed his counterclaim arising under FOIA. See State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 202, 682 S.E.2d 275, 282 (Ct. App. 2009) (observing that “our [appellate] courts have at times considered an issue in the interest of judicial economy”).<sup>5</sup>

Turning to the motion to dismiss, it is well settled that the Court will not unnecessarily reach issues when its ruling on prior issues is dispositive of the appeal. See Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc., 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999). Given that the

---

<sup>5</sup> The Lottery Commission did not cross-appeal the court of appeals’ remand of Glassmeyer’s abuse of process claim. After all, this claim was distinct from the FOIA issues and arguments regarding the available relief, all of which were encompassed in the order. While the circuit court did not rule on this question, Glassmeyer never sought to raise it during the hearing either. Opposing counsel, for good reason, did not want to go there when pressed by the judge. It goes without saying the Lottery Commission commenced this lawsuit in good faith to receive guidance on the law—as well as the rights and responsibilities of the parties—and to protect lottery winners’ privacy rights. To that end, the Lottery Commission categorically rejects any insinuation that this amounts to abuse of process and looks forward to arguments on remand.

Lottery Commission prevailed in the circuit court and on appeal, Glassmeyer was not entitled to dismissal of its claims for declaratory and injunctive relief. By ruling in favor of the Lottery Commission and ending the case, the circuit court implicitly denied the motion. In any event, the court of appeals properly held “the denial of a motion to dismiss is not directly appealable.” Levi v. N. Anderson Cty. EMS, 409 S.C. 374, 382, 762 S.E.2d 44, 48 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting McLendon v. S.C. Dep’t of Hwys. & Pub. Transp., 313 S.C. 525, 526 n.2, 443 S.E.2d 539, 540 n.2 (1994)); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(1)–(4) (setting forth appellate jurisdiction).

A court “cannot review a decision that has not been made.” Lee v. Bondex, Inc., 406 S.C. 97, 103, 749 S.E.2d 155, 158 (Ct. App. 2013). “Like the denial of a motion for summary judgment, the denial of a motion to dismiss does not establish the law of the case and the issue raised by the motion can be raised again at a later stage of the proceedings.” McLendon, 313 S.C. at 526 n.2, 443 S.E.2d at 540 n.2. It is true that the Court “may accept appeals of interlocutory orders not ordinarily immediately appealable when appealed with a companion issue proper for review,” but that is not appropriate when “the issues appealed lack a sufficient nexus.” Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, 422 S.C. 544, 575 n.9, 813 S.E.2d 292, 309 n.9 (Ct. App. 2018) (emphasis added). And the Court is not required to do so.

The court of appeals properly exercised its discretion in declining to reach the merits of these arguments and giving them short shrift. So should this Court.

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